






CORM OP MERAL sEsstoNs OP nrs MC; 

01.4, anti Cotdty of New  'York. 

Part II. 

Indict ed.f r Robbery in tia Ptrist Degree. 

Indictment iLe1 ieb rut*, 3 1905. 

Appe aranc'es. 

ASSIST/NT. DISTRICT ATTORNEY ICEMAN J .0*C0NNORI for the 

People. p 

SAMUELPELDItAN, Esq., for the Defense. 



wi -Oleos 

People, being duly .sworn, testified as fol1ows 

4 fr. Adler,,where . 335 Second • - 

..avenixe.:' • 

of. Xanuary, 1905) 

ht? A I.dontt understand. 

.(The question is repeated. by the Official 

Interpreter, 'Philip bollin).. 

Q -Where were you? A In Third street 

Q. 'Where had you been? -A• I went • to see a friend, 

where my friend liTea. there is a saloons and we went dc 

into the saloon, and I came mit of the saloon. 

ht was it?,. A I unlit tall 



• Had. you been drinking?, had drink 

but I wasn't intoxicated. 

Q, That: saloon was it that you were in?: A It is il-i 

couldn't . te4 you: the name 

f the  sa3.6On. 

• .And what street, was it? A Third street. 

g Noy while you were in the saloon, who was with 

you? A My friend and the tan with whom my friend lires. 

.14Tow., what was .the name of your friend?. :A 

Itreitts.-

And what  was ,the name Of yOurk,friend. associate? 

•A I only know his family names., Sohimatsky. 

lThw, did you  leame the saloon With your fr.end Al 

No, sir* 

Q,..Did you go out of the saloon 'alone? 



MR* 06CONNOR: 

q, Di& you have any money in your:possession, at the 

Ct And where did. you 4Efre that money? A I had the 

change in my pantaloon's pocket the right. side pantaloons 

pocket, and I had the other money in a podket book in niy 

inside coat pocket. 

That is he bi.110? A Yes, sir in the inside pocket 

of the overcoat. 

Q WWI whet else did you have with .you? A I had a pock-

et knife, a cigar case, a watch and chain* 

Q Where did. you have your watch and, Ohairt? 

A I the left hand side vest pocket, and. the Chain was 

fa.stened to  a button hole .on the vest. 

go to? A I went .to the  toilet. 

iras .the toilet connected with the saloon 

A It is in the yard. , I had. to go through the hall into 

the, yard. 

Q, Now, did you see. the defendant, Pawlka, in the 

.saloon? A YeEs, sir* 

Q. Was. he in the saloon while you were in, there? 



When 7.414..wentolit. to the: tale* did -:10.014 remain 

n..the'',040onl- A. When r left to go totheyad,r 

12 the 01001 

ow, When did. you next: When he 

.W48 kneeling near me. ari"4-aes.t4701iincty. pockets.. 

Q, 'Where was this? . A In the yards'about i*Lr.way 

. from the 'hall door 'into 'the toile 

:You .had gone out  into  the toilet? 

Tee Aix, but I wasn't in the toilet Yet: Item On 

*4,- to the toilet. 

he was searching my pockets* 

Q And before your Pockets were searChed, did any per-

son or persons lay their hands on you? A There vas another 

man with him, and I received a bIo the man was behind 

me-- a blow, in the face. I received two blows. The first 

blow, didn't. f all and the second blow, I fen 

IER.IELDMAN: Objected to. 

THE COURT: Allowed. 

1ER • 1.21gDMAN: •.iMception. 



BY MR. O'CONNOR: 

Tow, you fell on the sidewalk? A No, 1.1 on .the' 

stenei in the yer • 

Q, Mow, who did. you Bee after you fell,down? A I saw 

that one indioat .4:11 the defendant e was kneeling on 

my chest. 

Q, was there anyone else there d., if. so, who  was that 

'person? A T know • the other one he was areated, too. 

There. 'vras another :man. 

Q, Was his nEme Mike Stiff, rlf$Iveltetz? 

I dont know 4 I. know the man 'b 3iht, I don't know 

his name. 

-Well, you - say, . one knelt; on ,your chest? 

and he held his hand over any. mouth and nose and 

defendant and the other man were. searching' ray pockets. 

Now, w were you doi.ng then while tbis was being* 

done? A I tried to put the man -aWay from my mouth 

because I am suffering from asthma, and I was about 

choked. 

NCR. FELDMAN: That is' objected tos. hiø reasont 

and I move to. strike it out, his reatiore• 

THE COURT: Motion granted. 

NR.. O'CONNOR: 

sow, how long were you on the ground? 

A the least two minutes. 



Did the man 'get up .Orf your chest? A yes, sir.. 

and then X got up. 

Q. pid you search Your pockets then? A Pirst I went 

into the saloon, and told them what, happened.; and. then 

mmed.iately commenced to see ',that T am missing. • 

Q,

 

Now, what did you. miss? A The W4t:Oh and chain. 

.the greenbacks also. 

How much, money altogether; did you hare, in American 

money? Nine dollars I ii in paper money, tor 

sure, but the change might have 'been either fifty cents or 

sixty Cents. 

Q, And Your wa.tob.. and, chain were' taken from 

A. Yes, sir 

. And your c gar case? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Now, did. you. wash the blood off your face? 

101..F2tif.AN: Objected to, as leading. 

4% Yes; I wiped it off; With my handkerchief; 

on  the• shirt.here on the chest; (indicating). I was all 

full of blood. 

'ghat did you do then? A Then I went into the street, 

and. I called. as load as I could for polio*. 
V. 



An4 %viten- did u see.. )10 defeildant:?..: A .1 didr,t see 
hi* since that time until; her., I see ba. 

Now,.did you eauSehis arrest? 

Tes, sir.. ThetsciIieeman ame .and I told 1-4411xy 

s tor 

4 Now, you 'had been dripking, n the saloon ?here the 

,dePindant wasp that night? A Tea,sir; he and two others 

were p1aing. cards, while was. there. 

(The Court then aclmoniShea the jury in actors:twice 

.with Siotion :415 oI" the Code at Criminal Proced.ure, 

and took a recess until a quarter past 'two o'clock 



T 0 A. D -L 3, R„ the complainingwitness/ being. recalled 

• for cross examination  

CROSS  EXAMINATION' HT MR. PpriDICANI 

montent: T. came very quick, and T have the asthma very bad]. 

I: cent t 1reath. 

TR:t 001TAT: Take him into the next room awl, le 

him recover his breath. 'meanwhile call another 

Witt:kiss; Yr. District Attorney. 

XIOHA31.11 ME 2 2,. a witness called on behalf of the 

Peop e, being duly sworn, and,,óxained throu h the same 

Official Interpre.ter, testified as follows: 

DIRiCT, EXAMINATION BY *MR. O'CONNOR: 

q Where do you live? A Th Third Street. 

What number? A 245. 



.3 you know Pawlkat the defendant? A A couple of 

weeks I knew him. before that  happened., 
• Now, were you with him on e night of the 30th 

of Zftnuary • 1960.i n the saloon? 

I was.' 

'Do you know Otto -Adler?. I don' t know,his 

know the n.now4 IAortft.knOr his rime yet, but I know 

by tag 

No*, you 'vre with tho defe:ndant 11.11171.ka that 'nig 

in, the Third street saloon, wren 

A Yes sir, 

Did you do ,aryth1ng to Adler 

312a, 01 CONNOR: Bring. in Adler, a InizniVe• 

MR.FEILDMAg: Now, if your 'Honor please t 

object again. All the Interpreter has to 40 is t 
' 

'put the questions put by the District Attorney. 

The Interpreter is asking him.about :the case when there 

a no question. 

THE COURT: The Interpreter will put the -questions 

and give the answers only. Bring .in 

•for a raoment. 

BY MR. O'CONNOR: • 

you know that man indicating) A I saw hilt 

there. 



Q, Now, whkt did you and Pawlka do 

the 30th of January? 

• PELDMAN: I object to the form of. the que 

your Honor please". 

TBE COURT: Obj ection overruled.• 

MR.YELIATAN: locception. 

it that man once. 

Where did, you hit him? , 'A I hit 4m on the. head,* 

had his hat on and he fell, -down* 

9, "What did you hit him with? A With my fist; 

fell crown, what did. you do then? 

When he fell down Pawlka got on top of himh 

.And. what did Pawlks;.do, when he was on top of Adler? 

A Ile Searched his pockets and. I. don't -know 'That he tot* 

out of his pockets, but he searched his pockets. 

•Q, •was anybody else there besides you and. Pawlka? 



Br THE CQ 

ou•were ind.icted for this offense; weren't you 

I am in the Totbs r that. 

And didn't you plead, ot.zilt ?before me? 

an  guilty. 

.;.'131"*...13111).11411;. 

'Now, Met. .1c t#10 .:Of the day did.. you Meet Pawlica?••• 

I 'd  flQW exactly i it was half- past ten or 12:0 clocks 

night time. 

Where (Lid you meet him 

!rat 11.110. in the'. saloon, and he  dame In. - 
.4, Tin; didntt Maki any pre arrangements  with him to 

meet you there, .• did .you? 

A No, sir; I didn't tell. him :to come to the saloon. 

R, And that was the .first time you met him .on that 'night' 

in the saloon A The same eveniig I saw him three- times 

in the saloon. 

/ mean at the time when you met the defendant 

n the 4a1oons that Was the first time, when he came in there, 



7 a/Accident, and you met him there A I w him 'before that, 

but he went away, and then he came bank, and I. was in thØ. 

e0e. 

h came in d.id. he come - u.p to c 

me, when-  he came irt o.the saloon. 

when he. -cazaeup to you what were you doin 

then? A We talked. to ether. 

Were you arirlithat *here together? A We di4ntt 

d.rii immed:iate4.7. 

cl At .the time when you were standing together, was the 

,complainant in the saloon? A Ee Wad there drinking with 

other pe ople • 

Drinking with other people? A The erman was 

there, !drinking with other people. 

Q, And how many other people were in'the saloon, at 

that time? A We were about seven in the saloon about seven 

people. 

Q, And where is that saloon? A On Third street. 

Near vrhat•avenue? A I don't know what avenue but 

r knew it was inyahird street. 

Q, Row, you, were standing host long together, you,Stiff, 

and this defendant; for how long a time were you standing 



because we had no work, but that evening we sat about two 

r three, limn's. in the Saloon* 

And during that time /ou were not drinking at 

all; were. riva A That time we didnt t drink, but 

before. .We drank three or four glasses of beer. 

Then when you se./ the German .you call hi 

stancUn in the saloon, you didn't know the many .did 

A No sir. 

Did you call the defendant's at Itentibn to the aerman„ 

In the saloon? .,A No,sir; r didn'tanyth.tng to hint 

about the Gerinani 

So that when  Was it that ,by•Ou got up ,and._ left your com-

pany and. struck the complaining witness? What time it 

time. 

t was around la o'clock, night 

Did.you Say anything t.b any of your. company that you, 

jo .to strike.. this man ..to. rob- him?. 

A No  sir. 

Q- So that you: went out there of your own tree will to 

attack this German? A. -I went first to the streets and then 

r went into the yard. 

4 And until the tiiia you attacked hi* none of your cos., 



15 

knew anything about: it/ The persons in the saloon 

didn t know a, hing about it,  

g, Did you say to an7body in te saloon your intintiono, 

that you will eo out and. strike this German, attaolc.him 

rob hile* 

33T TWA COURT: 

Q, Ask him who, if anyb cbrt ugge;1341.11.f.  they go out and. 

rob this man or attack him* 

THE COUR that- your question substantiall 

7eldman 

I and this mant the accused.  .we talked about 

n the saloon* 

33 MR,* NELDMAR 

Aboitt what/ A Abott a.ttacking 

4, 'Why did you select  this man to attack?' 

because I thought that hewe.a drinking,and. was somewhat intox-

icated* 

•You didn't see  any money that he hads did you? 

A W r didnot. I didnAt see money and: r didntt see his 

watch.' 

4 And he was in company with others wasn t he? 

Yes*, 

Q, This same sian at.the time when you saw hie A There 

••••••••••••••• 



were three, he German and two others. They were drinkin 

together in the saloon, standing together. 

Q 'Who was the first to suggest to attack him,? 

• was the first tim it, was suggested to atItack hini;. that 

right? 

A When he was the yar we went into the yard, 

and he was urinating,. the German, and Pawlka, showed to me 

with his hand to hit him (illustrating); and _so I -went and. 

-hit him and knocked, him down. 

q,Do you mean to say, Metz thai, after you saw the 

complaining witness go. into the yard,you and •Pawlka followed 

him? Is that right? 

Well, ha went out about two or three minutes ahead.. 

and. we 'followed into the streets and then went into .the • 

aid. 

And he left his company, two or threw other many, standing 

in the saloon? A Ye sir; the others remained in the 

saloonv the didn't go.out.' 

Who suggested— . •was it you or was it. the defendant 

to follow him ight into the yard? 



t you know that you were the only man 

d_ that the defendant was in 

7Q, How fa,r ay!.: was it from .the salo.on?: A 

or seven paces was the water closet from the saloons 

Did you sea the German in the, water closet at the 

time that you came -out into the 

A I didn t see him go. into the closet but :.-I saw him 

that he was standing. -there, and. urinating. . • 

was it dark or light in that yard? 4 Tells there 

kind. of a reflection of light from the saloOn.. 

You say, he motioned' to him with his hand? liow did he 

ke

 

that motion to you? A That is the way he motioned 



inastrating 

Q. ..And. that was the first time that Pawaka told you,with 

that motion, to attack the German? :A He made -those Motions. 

to .jite .about three or four times* r . want to hurt. 

but he made that motion tome '•se+era3. times, and so 'then 

Axid 'tb..e. tits m.94* those three .61* fftr 0.9t.i040 Wag ' 

in th toilet room. In. the *ben 70u were 

When the ...defendant. was .in the 4ard?., 

es* sir. 

And at .the fourth time, u Understood what be 

me ant, and /sneaked .the understOod him when 

he made that motion., what he 'wants me, to do* 

Now, at the time you kn'ocked. the Man down, where W 

Pawlka? Was he in front or behind or beside. him/ 
BY MR'. O'CONNOR.: 

brk. on op of him? 

the iniddle, between us* 

The German WiEtS in 

one side of the Germ 

and he was on the other side of the German close together. 

BY NR. FELIMA: 

And did you attack him from behind or in front? 

A 3from the side, I hit the German.' I was standing on his 

side and hit him. 



0 t CONNOR: 01?jected o as. not 

evidence, at all. 

113.,00114:. .4110vred* 

don.q know if he saw me or not: 

Q, Toi øay you.atts:ked% him with.your. tier, 

right? A Onlywith Ay. Till. 

:Show:. :us tItg!wa you. •. did :that? ,That is the wa 

. 

with that .b1;0yr,i he went down to the ground? 

A. Be fell down. when I hit hilt. 

...After he was..on the ground, what dici you. do?• 

- pa*Ika when he fell doNini got on top of him, of the 

complainant. 

Could you see what • Pawlka Was doing 

that he was rumbling around in his clothing 

what:he took ou 

Ø,But you -just said. that you didn't Bee no watch Or 

chain? A I didn't See what he took out, but I saw him f 

You didntt give any description to pawika, before you 

out in the yard, f the contents of the German, s pockets, 



1.4 
t X didn't see an3rthing e to what the 111#1.."' 

ass. And X' didn't know w 4di the Gentian had 

In other wor4s, he didn't lcnow that he had, an thi 

w en you .strUck the 'blow?' 

THE OMIT: Oh, he has repeated that seyeral 

times,. that ,he didn knOw- whether h had any son. • , 

or not. 

OICONN9R: Y ro And that they attacked 

him because he was intoxicated and easy, and the 

took their chances of getting money. 

By. =taxa : 

Wells. what did 

held himmby the aim. 

BY, MIL o tOONNOlf: 

Q, While he other fellow went through 

defendant went 'through him? A. Yes, sir. And he was searcb. 

ing his •poc kets  hia • clothing. 

BY lift, PELD.14fAX: 

4 Did you see him take anything .out of his pockets? 

A NO, air; I didn‘t see -*hat. he took- out. 

irh Et became of him. afterwards? A Well I - di dn' t 

see what become of the German after; but I. went out first. 

f -the yards and then he Joined me immediately, and. 

didn't'. see what became of the eran. 



Q Di dyou et any of the monert2iat.11e 31401 A:T-414a."-

receive anything from: him; I didwteet-.4 ey-agd X didn't 

see no watch and so didu't Amt anything from him. 

Q, Did you go, after the attack, back to the saloon.? 

A We did/1ft go back to the saloon4atiff was then in the  

Street,, when I came out,.and then he cnme and.invited'uo t 

0 to ,another..Saloon. 

; And did you.so in the ea* ..4-irietl 

the talobni ne4r the corner, and we all three went to.that 

other. saloon, 

Q „Awl whet did you do there? A Well he ordered, 

the defendant, ordered three glasses of beer in the other 

'saloon* 

4, Well did You drink thee It Tss  

ei; 'what' took pla,oe aft.* r that? A Then we went to 

a restaurant in Third street a aim" au three of us went to 

a rest arrant 4, 

And what' did you, do then? AWe didn t have anyth 

o eat in the restaurant. Only we sattlown in the•reatiur—

ant. 

Q, Well, what were you doing there? Doing nothing but 

aittng there? A Wells it is a plaae that was warm, 

because .it was, cold Outside's and. people sit there, at night., 

because it is warms and so I sat there. 



Did you he. any coriverOatien,IFith, the defendant. 

or anyone  else there:1 about, the 'attack on the German? 

we didn't talk in theT,..reatattirAnt abou.t 

a!fair, but, en.,hel'inyited us to go to the*. Other ealoon 

he showed, me the 3c:tii 

4, Wh.at do you mean What do You.mean.by sayi3 

that he showed the knife? 'A He said,  "That's what 1 .tOok 

.from the German:. 

Q, You didn't see: any money on hint did you? 

R, You. 'didn't see a watch and Chain .on. him, did. yOWZ 

A I didn't .see mil the German a watch and chaillt and. Z didn't  

see that this man had. any watch. and chain: 

didn'tQ, You  demand anything for the job, that you 

ittwe didn t talk.. We drank the beer and. he showed the 

knffer; that is all. 

q, And you knocked the anan down for the .purpose of robbing 

W 11$ ;that was my intention; and our 

intention when I knocked - him down, to take 'wlatever we 



Mid you say you. were how long inew York, in erica?. 

.4. • -$.01r0,zi 

And that is the first tbil•seven months 

that you a',Oked- „ne*e 

:except '1140.,.. 

Q, And. how long do you know pawika? A Weil, that 

evnirrg, I knew him for about . . tIft4fe:.. 

Q You'#itree.-• had  any dealings with him before, that: 

..I never hal 40:'..14-teresikWith him.  • 

you pleaded :.:did..yow.no, •k. Thle time 

axs. -guilty* 

• .TO whomdid you speak: to.ettt.T: the case at- the tl;tie :whew. 

...you pleaded... 04.1ty?:•_ myself said,malt f. 

afld  " there *40.::94. 1#terpre.ter. who • talked .,.ty..:../angu.egeb.,.. 

:Izten-.0..t • know. who .it Was,. 

Q Metz, ;when yere you.. arrested in the case? A I was 

-arrested*, the same 

q Were you arrested  all- alone? A No.. Be was arrest-

4 w d ,yoU know? A,Beeause.Isawhimafterwarde 

n the Tombs. 

qDi, d you  tell the Police where he can be f ound? A / 



sraid to the police that he lived in Sikrond street. 

• know the number of the house  but I s n Second, . 

the complaining witness, being recall* 

for 'Prows, examination, ,and boil* eprentned through the same 
Officio. Interpreter fed as follows  

CROSS BXAMINATION BY 3/111. 

Mr. Adler what time in the day was it that  you came -

Q, There is it? A In .Third, street* 

Q, Thereabouts in Third street? A :Yell.; it is nearly 

•Aveittie•B or a The salooir is in the middle. of the block. 

Q, And you went into the saloon all alone? A No, 

sir. I and. my friend and. the landlord with whim My friend 

.CL Before .yott entered the saloon,. were you ogethe 

star. I went With my friend to the place where he 

and, finallYs we left there together; and.s whilst-



•  0r0 yOu in that 03.10on before ery time I 

see my friend then I go the-

When.you came. in, -you were standing at the bar, or si 

ug downs. or 'that? A All three of us were standing int 

front of the bar.. 

as there- any light in. the roost? A es, sir; plen 

light, 

- Bow many- other people were in  the room? A Xajbe 

vs or six or ten I don't know exactly. 

."Did you know any or ..thei? A I onl: 

vrh0-is playing in the saloon... w him by sight nd I. 

never knew anybody else; and I didntft look. around  asZ 

had nAlo partiaular interest to -look 

•th.rse Sitting there playing cards. 

other two me 

Q. Now, when you .went out. in the yard did you 

friends sittirg int the saloon? • A. Yea,, sir. 

Q, You knew the lace out. n the yard?. • 

A. Yes sir. 

Q, was t 

your 

a dark or iieht evening*? A Very dark. . You 

could hardly see your hand, before your eyes, in the 

street. 



Q, And,going to the yard,you felt a blO .e 

the distance between the hall and the water closet, there 

attacked. 

And the blow was 'struck from behind 

(4, Where did .the tvlow and. on oift A T e, first. blow 

landed on myrxiti teeth, my mouth, and the seaondsbloW be-

tween my .eyes.. 

Viben did you see anybody first, after you were 

struck? A Well; when I received the second blow, r t.ii 
down, and, when I came to then I sa.w three men. I saw 

that one was sitting on my chest, 'kneeling on ay chest, 

two were fumbling in my pockets. 

ct Do you mean to sar'that you saw them when you were 

unconscious? 

he came to. 

BT MR; FEIMMAN: 

QV Row long were you, unconscious? A Maybe a minute 

or a, inUte and :a half. 

• Q, And. you could site somebody going to your pockets? 

A Not only that. I saw, but I felt., because in 'every pooket 

there Were hands. 

Q, Now Mr. Adler, as you stated before, the age 'liras 



You could hardly see your hand-lJefore your face?. 

A _les, sir. 

Then how do you ideritif• the  defen-dant es being 

One of tbe men, the .man who ',was on yoUr chest? 

3seceauie 'T -rent 33313erhits face we l. saW h. face 'well.• 

Are there any peculiar, features about him .that, imprints-a, 

ed him on your tieniOt. 

A Isaw his wrinkli& hair, and his full face. 

Q, That is that?. A I saw his Curly hair And his full: fact,* 

(4, Did he have a hat on? A I. couldn't .teI1 you. 

Could you tell the color  of the hat 'th t he had 

-on., at that time? 

HE C (XTR 

he had a hat' 

PELDUAN: 

n or not. 

ct ;But Srou could see his Curly hair? A Yes, s 

f ace was close to me. 

'q There were the curly hairs A "Why, .on the 

• (illustratirg) and. principally o the back of his ears. 

Tells did. you see the other two faces also? A Tee, 
q. 

sir, thing plain. All three of the* all - lying co, 

top of you or standing around you? A Well one was knee:1i 



on me and the others were close to mer, kneeling also. 

And, for how long a time did, that take placf? 

How long were they kneeling Itay'be a minute. iot 

even a minute. It was quickly 

Did you sore= out? A I co1dn't, becauethey 

stuffed up my mouth and 1105et it-was stuffed up. 

after a minute they left, y s :that .right? 

A About .a minute. 

What did you do afterwards?. A t got up and. Welt 

into the saloon and. commenced to holler that I was robbed,. 

You. said, on your. direct, examination, that you looked. 

to see whether you. had your watch: Didn't you see the ma 

Wang your. watch from you? A I couldn't shr particularly 

who did. it. lout I saw that they were tearing on me„ on 

my, clothes and. my pockets (illustrating) and tore my watch 

away. 

Did you .see the man who went through your. pockets, 

.and took your money out? A., Well; the., one was as bulgy 

as the other. They were all busy at my pockets. 

But you will not swear that it was the defend.ant 

who did. that., A I will Swear that he was the first, 

the "quickest to. go -through my pockets. 

And o that, after he went through your Pockets, 

the other fellow went through your pockets also? Is that 



were working 

q And do you mean to ay that all worked- together, 

and put ix hands in yoUr pockets1 A To, bu possibly 

tree or four hands at a time. 

t T Z  a witness 9alled on: behalf of the 

People,.. being duly sworn, and exatinedt.thrOu h the ea% 

.0fiOial Interpreter, testified as follows: . 

DIRECT 3RAMINATION By. 11M4 otsponop.: 

41111.hereji log liye, 14.e.. A 335 Second 

And do you know Otto Adler? A sir. 

And.Wereltotl: 14 the solOn:v1tithi n!Third ' 

street on the night of the 30th of Yanitary, 

-Yes sir. 

And. what saloon was that? .*A Third ..street, 224. 

Q • D14. Yott see. Pawlka the complaining witness,in 

there? A Yes 

Q, Aid did You see Betz? A 

q, 'Now, did. you see your friend going ,into the rear room 

r; I saw him go out. 

Did. you see him when he Osme back? A Yes, sir. 

Whet was -his condition when he went out into the 



He was dressed, everything *in order, only lie hadaround 
• 

his neck a silk bandkerchl, 

ct sow,did you see who went out into the yard after b 

Yes, sir. 

Q, .ho went out? A Al]. the three. First,one wen 

.An4 who was ,the .first _one: .who .went out? A 

: tell positiyely if it, was this man (indiCating the defendan 

or  Metz.. 

2h.en can you tell :the Court and jury who went out 

Into the rd? ,A those two, one went out firsts of the 

defendant and Meet one went out firirt. 

Q, And you are sure, then that Pawlka. and 1etz went. 

out in the yard? A Yea, site. 

Now,. cud you see Ybur.frien 

A Yes s, al3r. 

What .w as his condition when . came back into the 

aloon' frau the, ar ? A Be este in. • He had...no hat.. .Be Was 

full of blood here (indic ating the .breast) and he WAS so: irri-

tated that he couldn't' speak. 

Q, Did you see Pawlka or Metz come into, the saloon againi 

f an the yard? -A N sir. 

9, Did you ever Seib Ahem after the time they left the 



saloon, and went to the Tamil A I didn't see them until 

later on, 

Viott ijd you see -them ,later on In a restaurant-2 

saw them whenI eam.e the  and tio_polio WW1.. ; , 

Thera were several therei 

itirho did you have arrested .in ,the restadran ? 

The one who was  a ,witness ,here, yeti. 

And Stiff? A Yes, 

Was Zia lick in,  the.  restaurant when you got there 

with the detectiTe .A Well, now,...c'it comes ,to my mind. 

recognize him n w that he was sitting in the cor—

ner, with his face turned to thee -walls .and.. T. aem his pro-. 

file and now I recognize hit as the -man. I didn t notice 

it at the time, t- recognize him then. 

Q, •You say you..didn t _recognize hit at the tim.e? 

didn't you call the attention of the police to hit? 

I: didn recognize him then, but from the. face that now 

see.s I recognize him as the man that was there' then. 
• 

Q, Then you. didn't t recognize him as th.e . man • at that 

time? A Because I couldn't .see thoroughly his face. 

Wells you say. that you are a - friend of Mr. Adler? 



Q, How maly years are you friends?' -A We are friends from 

.about ten or 12 rears now. 

Q, ,how Many years aro, you •here.. now4'. • A Threw. years. 

DO you see  him quite oft-en? •A yes, I worked. for a.' 

COuple.. o months in 

. And you went quite .often around, to .saloons .with him, 

to drink? A Not very often: But, when he, came to see me 

then we go because .he is not a drinklilg man., 

Bow manytimes: were you in that saloon With your 

friend, 224 Third street?, A It might be 'about. two or three: 

the saloon it was about 11 or half past 11. 

Q And hot, many were you, altogether?. 

man with whom L live and myself. 

Q, And you  stood up against the .bar? A Y 

Q, And You ordered beer ,I suppose? A No. 

What did you drink? A .-I drank wine Adler got. 

wine and. seltzer waters, and the third one got wine.090., 

did. 3v:su -have? A I can't state. •.. Twice or three times. 

It was no more than three times? A No; no more than 



that‘  

That kind of drinks did iiou drink? 

Rhine wire. 

were drinki g 

0441.0  no *.t.t0#t*-.0*to*16#0#-..in the 1#4.P.O# 

at 01*   di4..You• 

••'Whi5n was your atten: on .kt.traptod to these .tbree-

men,  sitting at a tabe anci:drigking?. A Well, a little 

laterlr We were in the saloon .about .ha Ifan 461.47:' or:. thi7.40.-: 

quarters': f 421, 461.ir aigbert; being in .44e.. saloon about 

You di clnit pay/ any particular attention to the three 

men, at all, did you..? A Well, T sat at a table next to the 

table where they were playing, Just out of curiosity, 

because y,were playing ga game that :I .had never 13 eon'. 

I. wanted to Fee what kind ;of a game.they'were 

(4, Well, were you standing in front: of this man or behind• 

im, when he was .standing there? .A It was a round table 

and I "could -see the faces of all .three of .them  and. I 

looked at their faces. 

Q, And then it happened that y Ur friend Adler went.ou 

into the yard? Of those three, one went out. 



Q. Before Adler? A yes r, ond.of those men. was the 

first one to go out, anct then Adler, about two minutes afte 

went tuti 

ey had nb eorrreroation with the rie.n who went out 

before -Adler did, they? The other two men at that table, 

TICR. =MAN: 

The man who went out, the first man .-oir4 of these three. 

that  went -out first" they didn't hare any: conversation with 

him 1d they? 

0 CONNOR: Objected to. 

HE COURT:. Allowed. 

A No, sir; 1 didn t see any. 

• Br IfiR •FELD 

Now; which of those three.men went out 

meat of the. two left- there? A. Of those two 

firSt-

either this 

t know their 

how. long after:that dia Adler go out? 

wo mieutes, and iaybe uot .twO minutes .after. 

Q And when one of the three Went ou did the other 

aybe 

two stop playing cards? A I don't know. They were sitting 

there, but I 'don't know if they continued playing dards, 



c4 Wells you say yOU were looking them straight in. 

he feces and.. you cantt tell now who was the .first man 

yrho left CP* table? 4 Well, I looked at .them a little b 

fore that man ,went out, and. then .one '.r.)f the 'three  got up 

and: went out and. so r ca./lit tell who, was e one .o the 

three. 

9, Now, what ía your name? A Alfred ,Icrents. 

rounds of drinks? 4 Yes,.. sir. 

Ct Now, who ordered. them? A' Adler. 

• THE COUR We will, go no further today. We will 

stop at this point. 

entlemen Of. the jury, I have some import an 

official work t 

therefore, have 

earlier than usual today. 

n the ,meantime, I adra.onish.y u not to discuss 

subject conneted with the trial of this case 

among yourselves yl - r with anyone else i and not to form 

or express Any opirlion concerning the 'guilt or innocence 

of the defAndanti until the case is finall 

sitbmitted to OU. 



Tie  Court .will now .stand adjottrned. until..Itonclay 
tOrning, at ilall'..taSt ten :o'clock, 

(The trial :wa then adjourned until Ziond.ar mornin 
March 14'1. ;905  at, 10:30 



K R EU T• Z,being' reo4leit.f or further 

cross examination., testified as :follows, through. t 

Dogin: ei a Int erp re t er Phili 

ORM ktAXINATION CONTIMED-BY /IR 

q, Now, Mr Kreuiz  •you. say there was 

saloOn before Adler left the saloon 

Before the complaining witness 

saloon? 

Yes sir. 

And you say you canit tell who left the saloon? 

S it this. *man. (indicating the . defendant) or was it Metz 



vat*. left it? A I don't know that.. 

Would you swear that the -defendant was not the 

Now, you say. yOu ,were Standing there..0serrint the* 

And you took good notice Of them did you not? 

r. 

-01.z..oduld tell, f youSaW him figa471? A e 

r. 

When Adler lef-i.the. saloon, •what were the other two 

dothg at the time? -T :mean the .other .two. .Were they  .playing 

cards or, not?. •.A I don't know. I didn't oberve. 

Well, how long a. time did elapse until Adler returned . 

A maybe three or four minutes. I can't tell exactly.. 

when Adler came b IC, was any one of the three. 

in the saloon? A •Not one of them was any more there. 

So let  me understand-i A. None of them. 

•ct So that , . let- me understand. Pirst a was one man from 

the three left? A. Yes, sir. 

CL And then the complainant,Adler, left? 



And then the other., two were sitting iU there:. a 

the *igae? A Yes, sir. Whi Adler ,went out, they were 

itting_.at 'the table yet,—those two. 

And you didn't see3 the two leaying.the -tab after. 

or five minutes...-. Three, or four minutes, no 

Q Three. or our .minutes... And then ..i‘dler came bat*? 
• • 

what did he say to you'? A He onlr hollered that he was, 

Q.id he say to you by whom he was robbed? A No. 

I immediately ran out into the yard, and there was no 

one 'in the yard; and. I found his hat in the yard. 

when ho .said h was robbed in the yard, you 

w by .whom he was: robbed; did. you? A. go; not 



IP* 

iitiudit time. 

d. you had no suspicion upon. anybodyn the saloon? 

MR. 0,001121011: Objected to. 

THE'_COMT: Objection susta.ined. We are no 

rying bases on suspicion.-

BY 2fR. MAN: 

when you ran out Kreutz who did. you find in the 

yard? A o one was. in the yard. I have just said 

• 

Did Adler go With you into the yard A 11, no. 

Adler., in the meantime was out in the street, and. called tor 

police.. 

Anybody else with you. when you Went to the d? 

A No. I was alone in the Yard. 

(4, Did. you. -call anybod *s attention to, the fact, th.at the 

man was roble d jtst now, in the yard? 

MR. O'CONNOR: Objected to. 

THE COURT:: Objection Sustained. 

j.V.1±41i.taAN Exception. • 

Q , You say You. were s andin there and drinking. with 

Adler? How was he dressed, Adler? A J'inyt as I told. 

had. an Overcoat on . and he had a white Silk handkerchief 

around. his. neck. • 

.was his overcoat. unbuttoned? A Buttoned. or unbutton-
• ,Lk 

,ed? 



•Unbuttoned? Unbuttoned* 

Did- you See a ivateh 43.,nd 'chain on him? 

Q. How do you 30iolf that he had a.watchl- tou saw the 

chain. Did he take the watch out? he too 

out  the watch; and I knew tliat lie he watch. 

4, And. you didn't see the watch and chain after,be came 

did you? A 1o, iio. When he Came iv all his coats 

unbuttoned, and, his pockets were turned inside nut. 

(4, Did. you put the question to him, who done it? 

B. O'CO11OR I object to that. This witness 

was not present at the time of the alleged, robber. 

S IT I 13, a  witness called. on behalf a the People 

being duly sworn and. examined through the same Official 

Interpreteri testified as Thllowe 

DIRECT EXAMMTION BY AIR, OPCONNOR: . 

(It Where do you live, Stif?. .ja-st:Third. street. 

IQ, What is your business? A An 

'do You -know Pawlka? A 

only saw him in the Street. 



.44 

ft • - W.0 ‘4.e•-..You,.in:-.the .S40023 ...1642.,the ath 

:when Adler was 'there?.. Was... 

Q. Did. -you Bee-rawlki;,._: and lake::-1.46#.:_there? 

A. a 

...I/hat Were. ,PaWika, and Mike Metz doing at. --the-• 

• Did .you'oee -them speakirgtogether? : I heard thent - 

talk togather, but. I dorAt know what they 'talked* 

he  them 7 speaking itIOUtt: „Acil,er 

act to the question* iyour 

onor please 1ff 1ading. n 

TItE COURT: overruled. 

Ception•. 

I don. t. IMO/ I .didn..!'t App,r them, beáause I d±-dnft 

0 CONNOR att.dler.", come up here • StaMriht 

there* 

-137 B. OtCOMIOR:' 

9,. Did you see that man in the saloon that. night? 

Tes sir. 

Now, what did you see Adler do while h 

saloon? A / saw that he was •drinking. 

was in the 



Q, Did you see him go ute of the salo 

when he went out. 

where the water closets are. 

Did Tawlka or Metz go out- of the saloon 

res, sir* 

Q. Did they go Out after 

saloon? A Adler wasntt out 

Q, pawlka wentout first§ 

went cit.. 

or before Adler Went  out a the. 
yet4 but Pawlka wen* outE., 

A !eø, sir; ata then Adler „ 

.after:.7maer:Went.• u whe:-.Wen*..-out,.4f-te.r . • • • .. 

*Cike... Meta*. 

• .didn,.1.t, .Out ..into the: T..• • 

o the...yard*•

 

, 

Q; .-Where - you  st arid? A I. wentout in the streets. 

Yes. A Well, ras it the  s-treet and thiS.mzin 

rrlicating the defendant) and Met,z- ca,Me out and they lion. 

ed me to go • to another saloon and I- went with  them. 

Q. -Yes. And .what did you do when you went to the 

other saloon. Well', we went there and Pairlka treated 

beer, and Pawlka went to the. Wattr closet: there,* 

q. 'When Pawlka, went to  the water closets_ in the  other 

saloon", did you see him when he returned from the Water 

closet? • 

A Yes, sir* 



you et any of the mons t see any-

money,'. 

Now, were you in the yard. at!, the time this  assault was 

"being cOmtit.te:11/ A wasn't. t 



• it A dog? iras there a dog in the Ard at tbe time 

the 8484%03 was being ooijnitt4 The dog ikas in the 

hail. 

Yes* And what aiLI he do ,vrit4 the . dOg (indicating 

deiendanti The -dog wantect:to. enter the hOtel• 

Well's. at the ,tiMe that you let the dog iniwas that  

he time that Adler and Pawlka and Metz werif...,in the .rear 

Daz'd, together? y were. 

You have pleaded guilty to 'the charge of robbery, 

ave yowl of robbing Adler? A I plead,'guiltt ..that I 

was in thesaloon; and. that is all. 

CROSs MENA-TIM. .BY R. PELDLA 

And. who told. you to plead. guilt A A young man 

who was talking for me the Interpreter* I don't know who 

it is. 

I I show you. the young man, ;ill you .recognize Who 

is?' Will you recognize the young man? 

A. .Yes ire 

.4 *Look at this man, Mr. Michael. Tandlich (indicating): 

that the young man that spoke for you? A. tea, sir.•

 

* 

9 Now yàu say you. were not in the yard  at all? 



A was not. 

Toil knocked. the, mandown,. dldn!t•O• 

You didn't put your hands ip:,his poo ets arid ro 

the mals; didn 

Ar144. • sttil you pleaded gult 

A I didlit't' Plead to -that.

was In the hotels: and that I was in the b154. 

Q Weren't ti4d. :tp.w at you. are. :pleading guilt 

A _lie told me that I should plead guilty, and I said. that  

_aril, I plead guiltr that I was  n the  hotel and ..i4 the 

n the hall and in the hotel is that right? A Teo 

only know that I was in the hall and was in the hotel. 

And,upon that knowledge, you pleaded guilty to robber 

in the first, deg ee? A I d.idn't plead guilty to that. 

MR YE D Wells let is look at the indictment. 

HE COURT': —Ohs _there•As no question about that:. 

• The case vias on before me, 'and 

trials they both pleade guilt 

BY MR. nraD 

Q, •Then you di:m.1 t know ttat you plead guilt to? 



• O'CONNOR: Obectcd to 

00AIT: we will not g0 into that now. 

Ob e tion sutained• 

you stated:befores; t e P the. yoU entered 

ef.Ore, was on 'the advice of Tatidlich? A, Re sal • 

Where ..did you he the oonversatiOns.WitkhiM?' 

ourt: 

In the. q0:iirt? 74.7 Yes,: gii.rip 

Where n the Court? Beiere the:Magistrate or before. 

this Court: or where? 

COURT: Now, I told you, 4 minute ago„ that. 

:Itra..S before Ile tako up :time in this way? 

ltR. 331.D • ,Well„ I would like to find out • 

where he was advised to plead guilty. • 

COURT: Aek your next questi 

A I. wa,s with.Metz togeiher. 

BY 0. MD 

Q, . Now, what time -did you 'go into that a aloon? 

don t know. I didn't look at the clock. 

,When you came in, the .irsttirne,in.to that saloon, 

on that days did you. finelsawlka and Metz in the saloon? 

A' When I came,Metz and Pawlka were there, but Pawlka went 



tost and. oasts 'back again. 

And then yo all three were sitting down and. ay n 

cards? A No; only those two, Let.; and. be.. I didn't plar 

cards* I said that before. 

:And *hat were you doing at the time they; Were playing 

cards? -A I was sitting and, looking on, looking at the 

4 

7Aii4.7 or how long were you sitti% and; lb(*ing,. a. 

the -AbOUt an hOur '.or- more*. a t knoycw 

Q, That time was it when; you. Saw A1lerT, thi comPUining 

witnesses and.his friends entering the .aic:4Loon? . A I don't 

.you tee Adler and. his friend.  standing in  the 

Salton and :drinking? A I a aw. people were drinking , there 

pawlkatis .or.:Metz'os attentic,m- .to Adler and hi.s friends in 

'the. saloon!? A I their :attention to Adler, 

in reference 

talk about Adler., 

R, Did you arrange with pawlka and. Metz to rob Adler? 

A. N I di dn' t talk with  them about robbing Adler, 

ct Now you say thats at the time you were sitting there, 

Pawlka was the first man who left this table, left this 

00000 



saloon to oto the y r 

A Yes, sir* 

Q, Then you say-- what became of yo m and Metz at the 

time he left the saloon? A I and Metz we  were In the 

saloon, when he went out. We remained. 

Did you know, of your own knowledge that Ad;er will  

ants to g6 out. of the saloon or .11.ot*. 

And then, _ after Pa:ma:Ica ;eft the'saloon, then Adler. 

was the .next m-pn• that 3...pf't it/ " .A Yea, sir* 

is that right? A 'res., sir0-, 

And..w4see was Metzi at that time,, when AdAer lett 

the .sauonfr , A When Adler went oufr,. then. Metz went out 

into he street r d' 11 t know where ,he went* 

• And he left you all alone in the aloon; is that  

n the saloon Yet.-

--Q; Did. Metz by leaving. the sa1ooi, say anything to you 

you were •stiI1 in the saloon; is that !eight? A I -was in the 

saloon yet when t}iey went out. 



Rhen did you, for the  first time, hear of the robbery 

that was committed in the  yard of that saloon? A X didnit. 

--see the rob 

There did you  ti4d, it .014? A. When -we _went to the 

other Aaloon, then r heard. them talk, thiS one and.the 

other one, one they took from that man.

Where. did you meet this tan (indicating the defendant' 

Wb.'i. we went to the Other salo.en• 

w long after Adler. left the s oo4 and Metz. 

and Pawlka:.left. the Saloon, did. ou. go into „the itreetfq) 

Ita,ybe a minute or two  

You didiVt..knows:. of your own knowledge What the 

were doing. in he yard; did pa A I did:nil 342101,7 that tbey 

, were ".doing in the ye. 

d you say, a minute afterwards You met on the 

street, in .front f that saloon? A T a minute or. two, I 'wen 

out in the street. 

, And, left them. A yes sir. 

And then you Went away to another *sa.I.Oon? A Yes, 

4 Is that right.? .A Yes, sir. They came out of the 

yad,and they were laughing, Metz and. pailka, and. then the 

invited to go bto another saloon, and then I went with 

them. 



.-v34ra street, n the corner... 

Q How long did. it take you to get to.th geoonci. ts4loo _ . 
from the first saloon? . A About two or, three -minut tin from 

one. saloon to the other. 

w en °It entei7ed.'the -geopnd sa.loon„ tell us what' 

.took place? 

A ,we didn't .do anything: tre. 'We- had beers beer. was'. 

.,Oraftea, and then they talked together, 

.what a° yOu: me ,They talked together? 

A Payilka ordered the beer. 

Yes.. . A- They .Were: .talking, he and Met.; *ere talking to 

gether, the de4'en dant, and yetZ.. 

• oq, And you  were s an.dim there With them„,..'weren you 

vas iz the silo on.. 

C/ Now, tell pi; what the cOnlitrsation was? A They were 

tailing about the robbery, and he said to Idetz. (indicating 

the defendant).„ didnt.t think that you were so daring, 

that you were So courageous. 

(4, And that was the first -time that you heard about it? 

A Yes, /7,, when 'they a,iked together. The di dn t say 

anything about the money. 

sot all you heard, at the time you were standing Jar 



•iszti*cont. saloon, tza the pany f the .other twO,' 

and. Metz, was that pailka stated to 'Metz didn't believe 

that you will be so daring' l)r, courageous"? 

THE C,OURTI 14(4.1 wh) repeat that 9:11estiall? 

Why take  up the time in: 'thit way, Mr. 
mDRAN with.d.raw the question. 

BY Mfl. 112/aDir 

Did you have, conversation with Xetz n'17rid.e.y? 

t_lip$ COMM,: 1What Priday,/ 

VA. LDM,AN I1as t Tr I day? 

A Yes sa.r I talked with Metz. 

Y MB. 1-2 
Where did you  see Metz? -- A 'Down' there (indip4.ing , 

the prison pen of the Court). 

And that was afteihe was on the witness sand;: s .t at, 

rigl:it? A Yes, sir. 

Now, tell us what he said. to you? A 1tei said, 

said. everything 'about 

the defendant Pawlkaa .was not the truth"?' A ite said so. 

' He said, ."/ talked, but It was not. true. 

And didn't' he  say, also, "Because I know / will 1 

sent away, and let hixa go, ;also"? 

A.:}qk said, "Yes when.l am guilty' and. will be punished, 

I said alio on him. 



=RUT EZ& XNATIÔXi BYUR. tit 00)1110R: 

4 Well,, you were present- In the saloon, when Vawilce. an 

"Metz were there, on the night before the assault was,,commi 

240 this -maw:Ad/ail- didn't you 

1141,1311AIT: -0b e et e.d.- 'tit)* 

that 'he did note 

Objection overruled* 

FateptiOno 

Yes, sir.# 

0 tOONNOR: 

And theni When p.a,*Ika went,oUt in to the 

then Adler ;l'ollowed, 

Then Metz wentoUt after Adler? . A. Yes,. sir. 

Then you went out in the 4treet, in front o the 

'saloon? A 

- And, then, within two or thr eel minutes 

and Pawlka bathe out,.out of the yard? A Yes, 

Q. Then you went off, to the other 'saloon; .with' them, 

JAB.'ITELDMAN: Objected too He . testifies .th. 

tle first .time ::,..he heardot the rokyry was in the 'other 



epti orts 

I. diciv*t.kno* when they 041ed me to gO to: the saloo 

what. theY: 

01 a0NNOA: 

What the- r; what the 

wilted me. ari4 I went With 'theme 

19330B0g$RXMAINATION:B 

didn'tSo you  know., and not a word was spoken about t 

roberywhen Adler left the .saloon?. A I 044nIt know th 

they wanted to take JLS money* 

Exactly. Md the first t me yciu• heard; 0 the robber 

was at that time,. 1w the other Saloon? A 

DIRECT EXAIMATION BY ./ER Of CONNOR: 

ct • Now, you are an officer o the Police Department 

e the City of New York? . A. Test sire 



On the night .of the -,,30th o 7anuai7,,. 3;905 did 

see thin oomplainan; Ad-3,er 5 

Where, did rOu meet him first? 

• 
Q, fld what was the c.P.:0'..t.di,tioxt àhia racer A He was 

• 
arid did you have a talk with him? Yes, 51r  

Q.WhatdidyQudo••.40).• end hIa 
„ 

--,r..:1,erid4.,:lCreutz.l. Out with -.tO. • •Seobnd . . 

Oct..* ti.Offi.oer.l.teynold and. he was coming along iwith the  

saloi,n keeper, to 7:Statioi*,hbUse., .no =ire.; then .X-tto.-. 

and we left the saloon keeper there beb4nd, us and, we start —

d out, and 'went, up Third • street to this saloon, with another 

officer/ and we went up and. saw the saloon 3teeperts wife, 

o see if he ,knew anything about. it, . 

Q, No. Never mind that • Go ahead. r It.. saw  his wife? 

A Yes, sir. 

Now, after seeing the saloonkeeper.' s wife, what. did yo' 

A Well, lasked her about it. 

Toa nd 'from therewhemdid you g 

street,' down :in this coffee ,hciuse. 

And there was. seven or eight or nine or them there. 

ey vials playing -cards and Kreutz and Adler was along wito. 



and they picked, nut this than Metz, and thislaan 

two of the men  that had assa.ilted him and. -robbed him. 

And.  they said  there was anOther•men. And from there 

took the two to the .station house and that was 414 that 

hing•thercr4. in your. presence 

They said:.th,ey didn't- know anything about it? 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY' 

So that you.didn t • arrest this man, did you, Officer9 

liow long after was that? A ant three weeks. 

And how did you come to arrest him? A Well, 

informatiort that he was implicated in it. Igat information 

that morning that he had. something to do with it, a man or 

, that nem. 

Q. A man of t at! name? • A 2e s, sir.• And  I went to ao 

Second street at... three. o clock that morning, Tanuary 31st, 

4, And there • you• saw him? A No,sir.; but I got told: 

that no man lived there. 

Q, That nto man lived there? A Of that" Eine • 



Are you. Sure- of that? A. That whEt I got tol.d• - 

On what floor was that On the rear 13110.pigt siound 

the tof.1oo the- third.'.. '1OUrtk-t! opr:u • 

he rear.: •••.hpu.ee? 

X 'belie-ire that he Ifires therewith his since/ found 

out on the 21st of)lebrua 

didn't. You find. out :that :no man of that 

name lives there? A Ttp...1.0 What / found out 04.XanUe. 

I ask you, of your o*ii cno1edge whether. he .11s.. 

there or not: Yes, sir know that now, that he does. 

live there. 

o he doeS . live at, 160 SeCond street n t 

eepond.... or thir d. floor? 

Al;id: ell that you.knew about : the. third Ina • Offic.eitr.;. 

implicated? 

was the 'third; 

by.tbar A Well, 

there Were three. men robbed this mane 

Now, you didn't know that there was three men robbing 

sitting in the saloon, of your own knowledge?. 

TEE COURT:: O, now, Yr. Feldman,• that is unneo-

OS Sary: 
A1•11•••• 

MR. 0*CONNO The People rest. 



E*t At this ask your Honor to 

ot the jury to aocitrit tiecattse 0.0 prosecution has 

ed to establish a case* 

T.HEI COURT: Motion denied .. 

MR..w,ELIAPLAN 



'1),IgEqx.E).C14.14.ATX ON "DV. KR: . . . 

Novrt Pawlicas try to 'op os Thiglish• You can aak 

-En$11.0.• 'Bow, long- are you in this c Ountr ik Over '11 01'4 

-*What do you do for -a- living?. 

Are you, a marriedman? 

*ere do you. live? A 160 Second street.. 

Q, With whom do you live thereu A With the wife 

and my brotheri-in-law• 

Q, Your Wife is in Court? 

lives in the house.. 

Is your wife n Court?' A less sir; she 

indicating). 

gy wife and brother 

over there 



er,.Pawlka, the night ot the 3 

'e in the saloon in Third street? DO 

A sir; remember that'. night* 

what time did. you enter the saloon? 

o clock in t 

e Metz- .and tohn Stir. 

7:011* mem itfe wt.;ii 

that right?. 

how- long do you.kii.Ow Mike .Metz and John Stift?. 

A 'I.know.Mike-mOzz for' abOut two or three weeks an 

know J7Ohn, &bit out: three or . four days 

!here do you come from? A .7/1/6. 

.Tett.. !here were you born A. Ohl. Austria. , 

And where does Metz and .Stif come from? A I'don t 

they come from. 

you frora Galicia, Austria? A 



You are a Hungarian? A Ye "0 

wow,. 'when you met. th in the saloon, what took 

plaCe? A I dame in there, and I got,four, dollars coming. 

off John'Bernowskys. the saloon keeper. I was playing t 

music there, Saturday night ar13. Sunda got four dollars' 

off him and,. j treated 

And you met Stif and Metz- in there 

did you do? A I went in there and I :took % pay,- what 

was coming to me. 

And then you sat down? A Yes, sir. X sat down. 

And.X treated them ,anc1 we sat down and was pia 

cards 

Q. you had some drinks? . •A Yes,,:Sir. 

.Q, Row, when 'as t4i.firet time yoU.left the 5040n, to 

go into the back yard? A When was the first times' 

Q. Yes. s -A I don't know , what time it wad. 

Q, You dontt remember that? A No. But E know I went 

the fir8t 'man in there and I got through with that, d 

was want -to go, home t 

Q,• Now, one 34oment. • When you left the saloon to go into 

the yard, you yir friends in the Saloon is that 



'rest sir. 

And then your went out to the yar Teo sir. 

NOw then :what took :pia  A / wentin there.. 

as through X was coming back aga,in.' 

Now, how ar s the  toilet from the saloon? 

about-, 10 or 1 feet from the saloon. 

Q, About 10 or 11 feet, from the saloon? A yes 

went out, and Mike Metz got right after him, and he came 

after him, and he get him and. he knocked him down„ and he got 

On top  of him. 

Now, Where were you at the time, as you stated, that 

was trying to 

get out, but I can't.' was on the road :bhere* 

know that Mike metz will hit Adler? 

didn't know anything about it. 

Did you. speak . in the saloon .-wt.th Mike Metz • and. Stif„ 

aboui Adler? A No' I didn't speak to thiain about that. 

So that you mean to say that the. first time you-

kn!w anything about' it was when you Saw Mike Metz aotuaUr. 

Adler, is that right? A I d 

(The question is repeated through the Official 



re orre 
saw hist bit hisvi 

when yonsaW himhitting- the man Adler, w 

Told him what?" A. To leavet_h 

To let him go? 

arter the man was  hit', what became of him? 

lhat became. at, -became :J.5 

_fell down, 

And Metz? Ana Metz bent down on him.-

tee* A And, when he wason top of, him, Adler was 

and then he hit him again here-1 between the eYes. 

illustrating 

And now I ask you also, dicl you hit him? 

Did you go through his pockets? A 

4. By putting in .your hands in his pockets?  

Q, Were you near the. Man? How far were you away from hint 

at the time yoi& saw him laying' on ;the ground? . A About three . 

or four feet* 

Q About threw or tour feet? A 'refs; sir. 

Q. Nowt you say you picked up a knife; is that right? 



Q, You picked up a knife? A Yes," sir. 

Where dui. you pick it up? A In the yar • 

Now, after you picked up the  knife,. where did, you 

-I went ou 

Where? .90414e- .00...'the:. 

.1010-1-)tild...•yott. meet. t*e.re tte.e: . . 

them, there., on the street? A And •then :they' asked me if. 

got any money yeti and I said,. s.„ I hare got Money yet. 

What do yo'use' want"? And they said. "Then treat us" n 

"AIX. right.: Come on. treat' .we went: 
into the saloon corner of' Avenue i -Berntysky place; and • 

and. theri-we ,Went ("Own t 

Q, Did you see,1 at• the tim 

stir there? ,Nos 

Stif wasn't there 

• q• And,, *hen you came out 

A I met him on the street. 

• You met him on the street? A •Y sir: 

Adler was 

.sir. 

on the street, you mettif? 

• And that was the fiecond time you ELW Stif since you 

left the saloon? A Yes, sir. 

• Now, after 3rou met, wherte did you go? 



We went in on Avenue B on the Third street 

Did, you say anything. about 

CI Did they say anything St if aske 

4.t ...was the Matter? What was it?" And I Sal. 

don't know. 'Mike hit him there: I found the knife on the 

ground• know iihat:he him for. 

. the ..hOu:se 

Q At 160 Bast Second street?. A /es, sir. 

7111,ere did you hear the first time that they were 

arrested and ohariedwith robbery? 

(The guestion.ii 

sitting there, but they didn't recognize, me they. 

tify me: I was sitting there. They didn't take me. 



1,31' TE Othmt. 

Were .you sitting in 'the—Oaf en-the' officer came 

and arrested these Other two men? iS *that? 

The  question is 'repeated through the 

'Interpreter, 

ME. urn around there, Andrew• 

to seep the curls that you have 

CROSS t'EXAMINATION 01114OR: 

And you turned your ,head, asid. 

came in to arrest Metz and gtik, didn 

o the  *all? 

MR. PELD1LA1I: Objected. to. . 

at  them straight, what they were 



.You were in that saloon from three o'clock it the 

afternoon until 12 o'clock midnight? A. Yes,. sir. 

slihat were -you doing in the saloon allda, 

AS • 

Playirg what? •A Cards. 

Q, You didn't work in the ..factor or..Sh6P; did you.? 

Not that time. 

ow. long is it since. you h ,wor ed. n a f:ac br 

About, two .weekS? 'A Yes s r• • 

(4, You said something aboit plea/.ing in the saloons 'What, 

did you play?  A Oh,  we  didnutpl.ay for money. 

at:, music did you, play? A Oh, there was a 'we 

ding' on.11Sun4y, and I played musia: on Saturday, night.' 

do you play? -.A: I flay a 'fiddle. 

Well what.- is your business?. -W am a working 

:*hat kind of a working man? .A Any kind of a laborer. 

Well, what did you work 4..t in the shoPT That shop 

did you work in? A I used to work in a lumber yard. 



GreempeintEl, on Pherry street. I worked in Greeivoint 

And where to tb.ii lauxiber ard. in Oreetpcint'? A tr " • 

n Pine street, I think. I d.ont  know the street. 

You, dentt.kh w the street? 

Anti. you worked, there  a, whole .yea. • 'Well, I didn't.  

oo1 at the. s rep 

Let me see, your hands. Did you ever handle lumber? 

Sure. 

And you'...dontt know the name of the boss, and the 

name , of the street in which you handle iumberin•Greenpaint. 

:for a year? A I didn't ask him his hake. 

Q, You didn 

q Now, Stir and Metz 

saloon? A Vies sir. 

were together with y tin, this 

q And Stif and. Metz and you 1.veretalki ogether? 

sir. 

Q, Adler•went out of the saloon firs didn't he? 

Ago. 

q 'Who • went out first? A I wentout first.' 

You wentout first? A Yeas sir. 



Q, And you were in the yard when, Adler came out? A Yes 

Q, And •then Mike Metz came out? A Yes, sir. 

Aid,when Y.1,1441d AdLer and Metz Were in the yard 

together, hen it was that Metz '1:1UPohed Adl AW. Adler one . 

out and Metz carne right after him antLIcno010(11111%-:ri t 

down, as soon as he got out of the hall... 

Q And he held his hand didn't be  A Yes, 

Q And had one hand on.Adlert6 mouthtand tJirigh 

didn't you? A 1o, sir. 

Now, where did you get that -knife f..rom2. 

I ThUnci it on - the ground. 

On What ground? A In  the yard. 

4)„ There was no light in the, yard? A Yes, there was 

i hto 

Where was 

saloon.  

(/' But you were out- near the taim0 

light in- the' halli too. 

Who held the door on rt 

the light? A There. vies• the ii ght in the 

here was 

n the • hall  to let the light 

come into the yard? •A I don't know, 

(4, Wasn't nil' standing by the door? 

MB,l'SLIZAN ecte d:t o* 



COURT: Objection overrule 

xception. 

don't know if he was standing• there, nob. 

• as there a light•  that was coming fr.* that hallway 

ere? A ,res, .sir* 

theThe light in  saloon was in the front of 'the aloon; 

wasn't 170s, sir, 

Stif stood by the door leading to the hall-wa 

dOn11 havent.t seen h. 

m •gie-r in the y4r 

T4D1I:AN:. Objected t 
• 

pIE COURT: Objection overra 

FELDMAN: Exception. 

THE CO ' proper cross exaninatio2140 

Bt Ma. O'CONNOR:-

.Did you hear the dog? A to,sir* 

Q,. Did you. hear Stif chase the dog cut of the yard when 

he was coming in? A Xo I ' t. 

Q, Well, you didnft go to the saloon after you picked up 

the -knife; did you? A Not sir.. 

4, But you walked out through the hall into the street? 

A Yes str• 

Q, "What did you do with the knife?' A I threw it away, 

/there did you throw it away/ A In the street. 



. Objected to* Re says the 1cnite 

was found after they left, 

•T.BIE COM: •Objection, :overrizledi. 

2M • PELDIA11-1- Ezc epti on. 

2he,malwas lylug.on the ground, wasn't he, Mr. Ad. 

Metz away from him from besting. him? A When Metz got 

he t. up himself. 

Q ,And..you walked out with Metz? A Ho. 

And you met ,Stif on the street/ A. yes. 

..And you all went down to the saloon? A 

,you A •No 

Well, who hAd, the pocket book? A Well I had toy own 

pocket bobk.. 

9, And you showed your own pocket book t4 Stif and 

•Metz, the saloons? A- Well, he was searching m did 

I took any money off him. 

q. And so you showed them an empty pocketbook? A 'Tess 

r it was my awn pocketbook. 

And Whet did. you do with the nifty that yOu took 



of the.pocket• booi  when You wentinto the 0100 

Xo 

Well, where did. you, get the.moppy. to pay or the 

A Well, I had -four oflars coming from. Mr. 4ernow.. 

where 'was 1_ ing mu,si.0 for wo nights* _ - 

And ,yOu had that money frit& Saturday night  

pn•Xonday morning, I at. that when I. came intothe saloon.' 

And how much did, you, get? A sour dollars:. 

)iowmacb did —you spend--fx two--040-3z0z-by 

.afternoOn untii.midnight? A Alamit; one doUr. 

Only one dollar? A 'es, six';sure. 

9, And, after showing them the empty:—RoCketboOkt 

'took .them around to a cafe4 clidn4t you? A Yesi. oir•• 

And you ,paid for -4.4e.. lunch the*, didn't you? 

•sir;-, and,. I wasn't going to pay for it either. 

u weren't going to pay for it either? .A 

str• 

ct • And, you di dn' t give lake. Metz. a cent of the Mone 

A No, sir and I didn't took any there.  
9, And you. didn't give him. the knife? A No, sir 

Q. Now, 'what had you done with the pocket book that you 

i)3.ad. there? A I. have got it. 

where is it? A Nome 

• 4M 



Qs JUici did you •find. any pocket book on ti1s man Adler? • 

Didyou see• 4ler- did you see Metz take anythin 

from him? A Ito didn't see whether he takes aryththg 

BY TJ1J COURT 

Now, at the time that Stif and Kati were  arrested  

•you say that yau were in the  .0 are -with them; don't you? 

e -.0- -  

Q, Now, you had 1:teen In their company' all clay, -ha 

you9 A Where? 

In the saloon playing cards with them? A 

A Yes, sir. 

was. •Stif in be yard at the 

I didn t, 'see,. hi 

that Ctzi hit Adler? 

Q, Then why 'didn't you tell the Oif,ic.e.rr. at, the tUle 

he arrested these two men, that Stif was not An the  yar 
*to do 

and had .nothing at all with it? A T. di dni t isnor What , was 

happenirj 

Q, Yo tt did not know Wald was happening A No, sir. 

And you did not interfere at all? A N 



12 

you„know why-. they were arrested for what the 

were arrested? A No '1 didn't know. 

onor4leasidk 

TiE COURT: Motion denied. 

MR FELDMAN: Exception. 



Gentlemen  of the :lir 

When one or more persons  acting in concert' 

•assault a person, aria, take from his. „person. proper 

itamateria as to, the ,value,  a.terial as to the amount, 

- if. the. -assault .is coprinitted. for the purpose of taking from 

the Person •oiN the., in.dividixak ..assaulted; proper 

There appears to -be no .'dispute, in thi 

casei, that the complainant was  upon the.premises in which 

the defendant and these two other men were. There is( 

no question.- that they were there, that  night, and it is for. 

you. to determine .what they did. there. 

If yau 'believe, gentlemen of the jury, the 

stOry -of this defendant, that. he stood bT, and saw the • 
d that, after the assault, 

b'e and the person Who committed the assault left the 



as, ,.and that he had. nothing at all to 40 with 

did not  know what it was done for, or what brought it. 

r* if there, be a j'easonable doubt jt 

you must give the defendant the bepefit of the doubts, 

and, find the defendant not guilty. 

Rut, if you believe, gentlemen of the jury, 

that this, defendant,acting in concert with .Stit and 7itetz 

on the rii hf, in .questions assaulted the com.plitinentif  im-

- material as to who, received the  proceeds of the oritiet 

material as to who struck the blows iataterial as to who 

took the  Money or property from the -pocket or  pockets of  
the complainants, Imnaterial as to who stood upon :guard 

f the three: men were acting Ixi- concerti your .verdict 

ought to be that of guilty of robbery in the first degree.f 

. determining the question; of the gill. 

or innocence of this defendants youllare A right and cugbt 

oosider the hour of the might. the neighborhoods the 

conduct, of the defendant at the :time; his admissions or 

statements' as. to the hours that he spent..4.n the saloon 

n the company, of the 'other two men;. and his conduct sub-

sequent to the .assault; and the taking of the property; 

and you can best determine:3 gentlemen of the jury, 



• from..iyOrkr,--own,-,•-•exper,iSnce... in every .day life, and the experi-

enoe :that .7010.:. have :gain-034in. t4.5 jury box who isteiling 

• the .41re. 

retire. 

,"*...,Y.r.442'. 

have received your message.- As I under—

stand it, you want ,to be instructed by me, whether a 

tona on the attacked. must be proved to make the defendant 

Ts that what YOu mean 

l'0=41: 

THECOURTt tyrant to says., n anSwer to your 

Avestion,,gentlemolts that, -if you determine)„ from th 

• evid:mce and the. entire circumstances of the cases that 

the defendant•was acting in concert With the others, even . 

though he *did. riot. put, his hand upon the complainant or did 

not touch him; or, if you believe that the three men were 

acting • together, at the time, your Verdict ought to be that

ixilty ts charged in the indictment. 

Xows have I made it plain, gentlemen? 

Tt is immaterial as to vhosput his hand le 



the 'Person of the oomplainanil, or%took his ,tIoney• or proper 

tber were aBgiBting 

r counselling each other) one Is as guilty as the other* - 

Horiott to set aside the verdict and grant a new trial on the 

.grouni that the verdict is against the evidence) 

against the weight. of eitidence and on all. the 

groundS 
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